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Connected Learning

Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018

The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements and auditors' report of the
charitable company for the year ended 31 August 2018. The annual report serves the purposes of both a trustees’
report, and a directors' report under company law.

The trust operates 5 primary academies in Essex. Its academies have a combined pupil capacity of 1650 and a
roll of 1271.

Structure, governance and management

Constitution

The academy trust is a company limited by guarantee and is an exempt charity. The charitable company's
memorandum and articles of association are the primary governing documents of the academy trust. The
company registration number is 08579939.

The governors act as the trustees for the charitable activities of Connected Learning and are also the directors of
the charitable company for the purposes of company law.

Details of the trustees who served during the year, and to the date these accounts are approved are included in
the Reference and Administrative Details on page 1.

Members' liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of it
being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount
as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to be a
member. ’

Trustees' indemnities

Trustee and Trust Fund Indemnity Policy from 1st September 2017 to 31st August 2018 provided by Zurich
Municipal with an indemnity limit of £5,000,000 and Indemnity Polution Defence Costs limit of £500,000.

Method of recruitment and appointment or election of Trustees

Recruitment of Trustees is from members of the local community and the Governing Bodies of academies
drawing on known areas of expertise appropriate to the needs of the Trust. Trustees are appointed by the
Members subject to the Memorandum and Articles of Association and are subject to retirement after four years.
They are eligible for re-appointment at the meeting at which they retire. Potential Trustees submit a CV for their
approval and are interviewed by Members prior to appointment.

Policies and procedures adopted for the induction and training of Trustees

The training and induction provided for new trustees depends upon their existing experience. The training
offered is on charity, education, legal and financial matters. All trustees are provided with copies of policies,
procedures, minutes, accounts, budgets, plans and other documentation that they will need to undertake their
role as trustees. All Trustees sign to confirm that they will uphold the commitments of the Nolan Principles of
Public Service.
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Connected Learning

Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Organisational structure

The management structure consists of the Members of the Trust, the Board of Trustees, the Trust’s Executive
Team, the Local Governing Bodies of the Academies within the Trust, the Executive Headteachers, Heads of
School and the Managers and Management Teams of the individual academies within the Trust. The structure is
based on devolved responsibility that encourages appropriate decision-making at all levels. The Local
Governing Bodies, the Audit, Finance & Personnel Committee, and the Trust Pay Committee all report to the
Board of Trustees.

The Local Governing Bodies, where authority has been delegated by the Board of Trustees, are responsible for
setting the general policy within the overall Connected Learning policy framework, adopting an annual School
Improvement Plan and budget and making operational decisions about the running of the individual academies,
capital expenditure within approved limits and staff appointments.

The Senior Managers are the Executive Headteachers, the Heads of School of the academies within the Trust,
their Deputies and Senior Leaders and the Business Centre Managers. These managers control their Academy at
an executive level, implementing the policies set out by the Board of Trustees and the Local Governing Bodies
and reporting back to them. They are responsible for the authorisation of spending within agreed limits and the
appointment of staff. Interview panels for posts within the Management Team always include a Trustee and/or a
Governor. Some spending control is devolved to members of the middle management team within approved
limits.

Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel

Connected Learning ‘s Board of Trustees agreed at its inception to uphold the Teachers’ Pay and Conditions.
The Executive Headteacher/CEQO has an annual performance management review with the Chair of Trustees, the
Chair of the Trust’s Audit, Finance and Personnel Committee and an external education expert. This group then
makes recommendation to the Trust Pay Committee. The Heads of School of individual academies within the
Trust have a performance management review with the Chair of the Trust’s Audit, Finance and Personnel
Committee, the Chair of the Local Governing Body and an external education expert. This group then makes
recommendation to the Trust Pay Committee. The Trust Pay Committee considers these recommendations and
also receives and considers the pay proposals for all teachers (anonymised) within the constituent academles to
ensure equity of treatment for teaching staff across the Trust. All Trustees are unpaid volunteers.

Progress and attainment of all children in the MAT is supported by demanding Performance Management
requirements.

A teacher will be eligible for annual performance pay progression where they:

1) have been assessed as meeting all of the teaching standards throughout the assessment period;

2) have had their teaching assessed as at least good overall during the assessment period,;

Upper Pay Range teachers will be expected to demonstrate increasing levels of outstanding teaching overall
Lead Practitioners will be expected to demonstrate outstanding teaching overall
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Connected Learning

Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

3) have been assessed as meeting the requirements of their job description/job role;

4) meet their individual performance management objectives; consideration will be given where factors beyond
the teacher’s control have impacted on their ability to meet the objectives;

5) have demonstrated a personal responsibility for identifying and meeting their CPD needs.

The compulsory evidence which will be considered in assessing performance includes the following:
a) pupil progress data: (a process of moderation will be undertaken)
b) quality of teaching against the Teaching Standards, including observed practice: observations 3 per year

QOutstanding school - all 3 good or outstanding

Good school - all 3 good

Requires improvement school - 2 out of 3 must be good. If an observation requires improvement, the
observation will be repeated once.

Serious weakness school - 2 out of 3 must be good. If an observation requires improvement, the observation will
be repeated once.

Other evidence to be considered will be:

b) self-assessment;

c) professional dialogue;

d) received feedback;

e) performance management statements;

f) CPD records.

and, in the case of Upper Pay Range teachers and Lead Practitioners, evidence of their contribution beyond their
own classroom and their impact on the wider school. .

Where a teacher has been absent for some or all of the assessment period, an assessment will be based on
performance during any periods of attendance and/or prior performance and criteria above applied.

Trade union facility time
During the year the Trust did not have any employees who were relevant union officials.

Connected organisations, including related party relationships

The New Essex Teaching School Network based at Powers Hall Academy consists of links with a range of other
local educational establishments. There are multiple schools within the network as well as the HE provider,
Canterbury Christ Church University, the Thames SCITT Consortium and Essex County Council.
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Connected Learning

Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Objectives and activities
Objects and aims

The principal object and activity of the Trust is to provide education for pupils of differing abilities between the
ages of 3 to 11, providing a broad-based and balanced curriculum and with an emphasis on literacy and
numeracy.

The aims of the MAT are:-

* To provide an autonomous school-led school improvement system.

* To develop an outstanding leadership team drawn from the constituent parts of the Trust.

* By the end of the academic year 2017/18 to be a consolidated community of 5 academies with a maximum of 3
of those being requires improvement, serious weaknesses or special measures.

Looking forward to 2018/ 2019, we are operating in a challenging economic environment and working with
budget deficits; the Trust is looking to make financial savings where possible. The Trust will not grow in terms
of schools unless an exceptional opportunity presents itself for a good or outstanding school, which is
financially secure. Outside of this going forward, it is still our aspiration to be a community of 10 or more
academies with a maximum of 5 of those being requires improvement, serious weaknesses or special measures.

» To aim for a ratio of 3 outstanding or good academies to 2 requires improvement, serious weaknesses or
special measures academies but at a minimum to have a ratio of 1:1.

* To adopt sibling schools of those already within the MAT as a priority should they become available.

» For each requires improvements, serious weaknesses or special measures academies to have a designated
leadership team from the Trust that will have responsibility and accountability for school improvement.

» For Connected Learning to continue to work closely and positively with the Local Authority to the benefit of
academies and maintained schools in Essex.

* For future growth to come from good or outstanding academies becoming partners in the Trust

+ To ensure continuous attention to the need for effective succession management across the Trust.

* To develop the Trust premises to ensure their fitness for purpose.

* To extend the age range in our primary schools:

- In Cherry Tree and Silver End to provide Nursery Provision

- In Templars to admit 2 year olds

In return, the Trust will offer to its constituent parts the following:-
» Career pathways, promotion and research opportunities

» Continuous professional development

« Staff recruitment and retention

« Staff mobility

* Education adviser services

» Innovative technological links

» Shared resources providing economies of scale

» Collaborative procurement

* Partner status for those academies designated good or outstanding
« No costs of an executive team, as is the case with other Trusts

» Continuous review of the Board of Trustees’ membership to ensure equity amongst the Trust’s academies.

Page 6



Aot

ISP

Connected Learning

Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

The Trust’s Vision is:~

Collaborative, meaningful partnerships

Outstanding leadership

Nurturing Environments where children feel safe and feel to learn

Networks, forging links across the communities

Equality of opportunities in inclusive schools

Culture of continuous professional development for all members, trustees, governors and staff
Tolerance and respect for everyone

Effective teaching and learning

Dedicated professionalism

Life skills to prepare pupils for the future

Every Child Matters

Aspirational, active learners, enjoying and achieving

Resilience, Reciprocity, Reflectiveness, Resourcefulness, Research
Negotiated behaviour improvement, respecting all

Interacting with technology

Next-steps learning

Golden goals, gifts and talents

Objectives, strategies and activities

» To develop leadership structures across all schools that will be strong and sustainable for 2018-2019

* To ensure that all teachers/leaders are given a structured and rigorous programme of development building on
starting points

* To embed the Key Learning Model to provide a high-quality learning and teaching of a curriculum that is
challenging, engaging and, exciting

* To raise the aspirations and expectations of all our pupils

* To retain the judgement of outstanding by Ofsted where it exists

* To strive to ensure that all schools within the MAT achieve at least a judgement of good by Ofsted

The activities:

» To provide a range of curriculum materials, applications, on-line information and knowledge as routine
components of the education process

* To be a dynamic learning community where teachers are facilitators of learning

* To encourage pupils to take responsibility for their own learning and support their peers, using a wide range of
available resources through consistent behaviour policies

» To assist pupils in acquiring knowledge, skills and attitudes that will be essential to them for their future
development

* To help develop pupils to become regular, competent and discriminating users of technology

* To provide high quality CPD for staff at all levels including opportunities to gain further and higher education
qualifications

* To ensure that performance management meets the needs of the organisation and the individual in an open and
transparent manner

* To work within the terms of the Teachers’ Pay and Conditions document

* To ensure that staff are employing a wide and innovative range of teaching and learning strategies, creating a
learning environment that addresses the needs and aspirations of all the pupils

* To provide staff with up-to-date and appropriate resources
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Connected Learning

Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Public benefit

Each academy is encouraged to retain its individuality and therefore there is a wide range of different
relationship that have developed. This year the following links with local organisations and charities have been
supported:-

» Staff from the MAT worked with other schools in Essex in support of the Local Authority’s objective to get all
schools in Essex to at least an Ofsted judgement of good

* The Teaching School Alliance operates from Powers Hall Academy but is a separate entity. Nonetheless this
brought in additional outreach work and connections into the wider educational community.

Powers Hall Academy’s Charities Supported Academic Year 2017-2018
* Share a Star

* PARC

» Tom Bowdidge Foundation

+ Children in Need

* Macmillan cancer

» Red Nose Day - Comic Relief

Templars Academy’s Charities Supported Academic Year 2017-2018
» Children in Need

» Comic Relief

* Sport Relief

* NSPCC

* Text Santa.

Silver End Academy’s Charities Supported Academic Year 2017 - 2018
* Shelter through a film afternoon

» Cancer Research UK through donations from school photos (Through Braiswick)
*» Foodbank donated foods and advent calendars at Christmas.

» Children in Need - wear something spotty (non-uniform)

* Macmillan Cake Sale

* Breast Cancer Research - wear something pink

* RSPCA

* Poppy Appeal

* NSPCC Maths

* Athlete visit

Cherry Tree Academy’s Charities Supported Academic Year 2017 - 2018
Children in Need

Save the Children - Christmas Jumper Day .

Sports Relief

McMillan Cancer - Sports Event Day

Peter Pan Great Ormond Street - Get Colchester Reading

Iceni Academy’s Charities Supported Academic Year 2017 - 2018
Rotary International - Purple Pinkie (End Polio Now)

Red, White and Blue Forces Charity

Colchester Food Bank

Children in Need

Remembrance Day (Poppy selling)

Save The Children

Children's Society
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Connected Learning
Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Strategic Report

Achievements and performance
2018 SATSs results

The two key schools this year were Iceni Academy and Cherry Tree Academy, which had full Ofsted
Inspections. Iceni gained a Good outcome, which was clearly reflected in the pupil outcomes, as being the best
in the MAT. Cherry Tree was much improved at KS2 but had disappointing KS1 outcomes.

Silver End Academy, as a new school to the MAT, achieved sound outcomes, being broadly in line with
national averages, as did Powers Hall Academy, whose outcomes were not the ones we expected.
Disappointingly, Templars was below national averages; however it will be reported as broadly in line with
significant work needed to be completed by KS1.

i)odtscomes Cherry Tree Iceni Powers Hall Templars Silver End N:;t(:(l);al

EYFS 63% N/a N/a 73% 60%

Exceeding 0%

Key Stage 1

Reading . 61% N/a N/a 69% 86% 75%

Writing 57% N/a N/a 63% 78% 70%

Maths 61% N/a N/a 77% 72% 76%

RWP 46% N/a N/a: 54% 66%

Phonics Yr 1 73% N/a N/a 71% 80% 82%

Key Stage 2

Reading 78% 84% 76% 76% 85% 75%

Writing 78% 86% 88% 78% 78% 78%

Maths 74% 89% 75% 72% 76% 76%

RWM 61% 84% 68% 63% 68% 64%
‘ GaPS 78% 84% 83% 76% 79% 78%

Progress data for the five schools was as follows:-

Powers Hall

The outcomes in progress were lower than the previous year, with some inconsistencies shown across the three
classes in the year group, following analysis. Although broadly in line with National outcomes, these were
disappointing and a greater emphasis this year will be spent on devolving accountabilities to senior leaders other
than the Head of School.

Iceni
The progress data was strong and, although there were some inconsistencies across lower year groups, the
progress of KS2 pupils slightly exceeded expectations against starting points. A strong and robust SLT have
enabled a high degree of consistency to be attained which reflected well in both the outcomes and the Ofsted
result.
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Connected Learning
Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Strategic Report

Cherry Tree

There was a pleasing increase in outcomes. However there were inconsistencies in progress due to the starting
points not being as robust as we would have considered accurate. Nevertheless, due to strong teacher
appointments to the school, the majority of year groups in KS2 made progress and KS1 Year 1 was outstanding.
There were staffing changes mid-year in EYFS and Year2 which were reflected in the lower than expected
progress. These anomalies are now known and will be rectified this year.

Templars Academy

Templars had a very turbulent year; significant weaknesses were identified in the SLT, which resulted in a
senior leader not being in school from April onwards. The MAT took the decision to appoint two Heads of
School in May 2018, which gave a slow but steady recovery for the children and the staff. The progress of all
year groups was below that we expected, as can be seen from the outcomes. From September 2018, coaching
programmes and a set of clear non-negotiables for all staff have been put in place. During this year the school
will be inspected.

Silver End Academy

The measured outcomes for Silver End are broadly in line with national expectation. There has been teaching
turbulence this academic year, with three teachers leaving as a result of the MAT expecting better quality
learning for the children.

Quality of Teaching and Learning across the Trust
These judgments are taken from the reviews that have been held in the schools. They are as the school is at
present.

Cherry Tree Academy
Teaching in KS2 is showing currently, between RI+ and Good. KS1 is strong in EYFS and Year 1. There are
weaknesses in Year 2 which are proving difficult to move forward. There is no inadequate teaching.

Iceni Academy
The majority of teaching is good, with some at Rl and some towards Outstanding. There is no inadequate
teaching. The school will develop more creativity in learning for the children as the year progresses.

Powers Hall Academy
The majority of the teaching ranges between just good, to some outstanding. There is no inadequate teaching.
S

Templars Academy

In Key Stage 2 two teachers are RI and will move to Good over time. The remainder are solid Good. In Key
Stage 1 learning is between RI and Good and needs to improve through a mixture of coaching and higher
expectation. Currently there are inconsistences between the two classes in EYFS.

Across the MAT the learning and teaching are on track to be Good by the end of the academic year. Where there
is weak teaching, individual programmes are in place and these will be followed by competency/capability
processes if necessary.
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Connected Learning
Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Strategic Report

Work across the MAT

Throughout the year there has been a significant amount of collaborative work across the schools:

* The commissioning of a School Improvement Consultant in Silver End supported the recovery of the school.

* The School Improvement Team has worked in all five schools, working closely with the Heads of School to
raise standards of teaching and learning ’

* MAT staff have become SLEs and worked across the MAT in English, Maths and Assessment.

» Regular support from the Chief Operations Officer and the team at the Business Centre with Finance and
Personnel issues across all five schools

« English Lead at Templars led on moderation of writing across the MAT, developing a portfolio of work to be
used by all teachers

+ SLE from Iceni Academy moved to Powers Hall Academy and completed outreach work for the Teaching
School Alliance ‘

*» Monitoring files set up centrally from all schools plus external support.

* MAT Behaviour Lead supported all schools .

*» Key Learning Model introduced to Silver End Academy and embedded in the other 4 schools.

» Joint Local Governing Bodies in Witham and in Colchester formed.

* 2 MAT staff have taken on the management of the Teaching School

Development of staff

» Continual CPD for all staff across the year, through staff meetings and SLT meetings on elements of the Key
Learning Model

* 5 schools’ INSET in September 2018, including a day with Jenny Mosely on Quality Circle Time.

* Leadership teams and staffing organised centrally to ensure all schools had fair and equitable leadership
structures for 2017-2018.

* Outstanding teachers appointed to work in all school across the MAT.

» Al NQT+1s attended Improving Teacher Programme [ITP]

+ Staff from all schools attended Qutstanding Teacher Programme

* 2 Heads of School appointed for Templars

» Moderation sessions for all staff in Year 6 across the MAT held at Powers Hall Academy

* 5 apprentices at various stages of qualification :

Key financial performance indicators

Most of the Trust’s income is obtained from the DfE/EFSA in the form of recurrent grants, the use of which is
restricted to particular purposes. The grants received from the DFE/EFSA during the year ended 31 August 2018
and the associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the statement of financial activities.

During the year ended 31st August 2018 total expenditure of £8,031,128 was entirely covered by recurrent grant
funding from the DfE/EFSA together with other incoming resources. The excess of income over expenditure for
the year (excluding fixed asset funds and pension costs) was £109,618.

At 31st August 2018 the net book value of fixed assets was £10,052,830 and movements in tangible fixed assets
are shown in the financial statements. The assets were used exclusively for providing education and associated
support services to the pupils of the Academy.

The deficit in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is recognised on the balance sheet in accordance
with the provisions of FRS17.
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Connected Learning
Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Strategic Report

Going concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the Governing Body has a reasonable expectation that the academy trust has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason it continues to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the
going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting Policies.

Financial review

The principal source of funding for the Trust is the General Annual Grant (GAG) funding that it receives from
the ESFA. For the year Ist September 2017 to 31st August 2018, the Trust received £5,012,269 in GAG
funding. A high percentage of this funding is spent on wages and support costs to deliver the Trust's primary
objective of the provision of high quality teaching and learning.

The principal sources of funding and how expenditure has supported the key objectives of the academy trust

The Trust is mainly. funded by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA). The majority of this funding
is based on the number of pupils in each School. Each year the Trustees prepare a budget with the aim of
striking a correct balance between meeting the need to ensure a varied and interesting curriculum for the
children by providing adequate staff and educational resources and also the necessity to establish and maintain
reserves to meet unexpected future expenditure on the Trust's property and other assets.

Reserves policy

Trustees review the reserve levels of each academy at each Audit, Finance and Premises Committee meeting.
The annual budget setting process examines the income and expenditure streams, the need to match income with
commitments and the nature of any potential reserves. The policy is to retain sufficient funds to ensure the
integrity of next year’s budget and thereafter to ensure surplus funds are used to the benefit of existing pupils.
The Financial Regulations require that, if a potential surplus is identified, this may be held back as a
contingency or alternatively allocated to areas of need. It is important that, if the trust has a substantial surplus,
they have a clear plan for how it will be used to benefit their pupils. The financial surplus for 2016-2017 was
primarily earmarked for essential expenditure in 2017-2018, any surplus over and above that will be used for the
benefit of the children e.g. resources, specialist teachers etc.

The Trust's current level of free reserves (total funds less the amount held in fixed assets and restricted funds) is
£534,193 and restricted reserves of £58,374. At 31st August 2018 the total funds comprised:

Unrestricted - £534,193

Restricted General Fund - £58,374

Fixed Asset Fund - £10,094,865

Restricted Pension Reserve - £3,103,000.
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Connected Learning
Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Strategic Report

Investment policy

Investments must be made only in accordance with written procedures approved by Board of Trustees and
clearly held in the Trust’s name. Aspects to consider include:

* Objectives

* Risk

* Type of investment and term

* Trust’s financial position

* Financial limit for type of investment

* Spreading investments between providers to ensure savings are covered by the Financial Services Authority

« Security of access

* Rate of return

« Charges

» Business interests of Members, Trustees, Governors and academy staff

« Ethical, social and environmental considerations

* Review including review of performance

All investments must be recorded in sufficient detail to identify the investment and to enable the current market
value to be calculated. The information required will normally be the date of purchase, the cost and a description
of the investment. Additional procedures may be required to ensure any income receivable from the investment
is received and recorded on the financial accounting system.

No formal investments are currently held; however, we do have a cash surplus which is monitored by the MAT,
much of which is earmarked for specific projects for the following year.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Government Funding and Financial — The Trust is essentially reliant on the continued Government funding from
the ESFA/DfE and there is no assurance that the Government policy or practice will remain the same or that
funding will remain at the same levels.

Some of the other current uncertainties include:

* The demand for Outreach Work

» Staffing — the ability to retain, recruit and train quality staff and managers and succession planning with an
aging workforce

» Governance and Management — a potential failure to effectively manage the Trust’s finances, controls and
education and operational performance

« Safeguarding and Child Protection — the need to continue to ensure high standards of selection and monitoring
of staff, the operation of child protection policies, health and safety and discipline

+ Payroll Provision — Reliance on external payroll provider to accurately calculate employee pensions
contributions, tax, National Insurance; all factors that are outside the Trust’s ability to check

* Future Plans — to increase the numbers of academies within the MAT in a controlled manner to ensure we
retain the benefits of the economies of scale as against over-expansion. There is the potential for other schools to
join the MAT with the support of the Local Authority and the Regional Schools Commissioner.
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Connected Learning
Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Strategic Report

Plans for future periods

We are aware of a potential deficit in future years although 2018-19 shows a balanced budget. Various measures
are being considered by the Trustees and reported to ESFA to address these issues.

« To increase the number of academies in the Trust in line with the stated strategy above.

« To offer an appropriate and relevant curriculum matched to the individual needs and capabilities of the pupils
+ To provide a high-quality learning and teaching of that curriculum that is challenging, engaging and, exciting
* To raise the aspirations and expectations of all our pupils

* To recruit and retain high quality, skilled and trained staff

* To retain the judgement of outstanding by Ofsted where it exists

* To strive to ensure that all schools within the MAT achieve at least a judgement of good by Ofsted

* Increase pupil numbers across all academies
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Connected Learning

Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

Employment of disabled persons
These policies are to be found in the following:-

* Recruitment Policy

* Employment of Disabled Persons Guidance
* Equality & Diversity in Employment Policy
+ Performance Management Policy

Description of employee consultation

At a MAT level the CEO/Executive Headteacher and the CLO/Executive Headteacher held regular meetings
with the Heads of Schools within the MAT to keep them abreast of plans, processes and procedures. Admin
teams were supported by the Business Centre staff.

At a School level, all policies due for renewal or approval that affect staff directly or indirectly are displayed on
notice boards and staff are invited to comment upon same. Regular staff meetings are held to update staff on
forthcoming matters that may affect them. Policies are available for staff upon request from within school
offices and on the Trust website.

Funds held as Custodian Trustee on behalf of others

The Charitable Company maintains restricted funds to deal with incoming resources that are earmarked for a
particular purpose by donors, sponsors and external funding agencies. Connected Learning holds funds at year
end for the teaching school. At the year end the funds held were £31,847.

Auditor
In so far as the Trustees are aware:

+ there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditor is unaware; and

+ the trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

Trustees' Report, incorporating a Strategic Report, was approved by order of the members of the Governing
Body on .§2.J12\%.. and signed on its behalf by:

Rowland Costin
Trustee
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Connected Learning

Governance Statement

Scope of responsibility

As trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Connected Learning has an
effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However such a system is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Trustees have delegated the day-to-day responsibility to Jane Bass, as Accounting Officer, for ensuring
financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial management and in
accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement between
Connected Learning and the Secretary of State for Education. She is also responsible for reporting to the
Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control.

Governance

The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees' Report and in the
Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities. The Governing Body has formally met 12 times during the year.
Attendance during the year at meetings of the Governing Body was as follows:

Meetings Out of a
Trustee attended possible
Rowland Costin 10 12
Jane Bass 12 12
Susan Sings 12 12
Simon Carter 8 12
Nick Redfern 12 12
Claire Brazier 11 12
Bruce Tuxford 12 12
Don Burton 8 12

Governance reviews

There have been no changes to the Board this year other than Simon Carter resigned from the Board as of the
end of the 2017/18 academic year. The Trustees are actively looking to replace him and add to the: Board in
general. The Board extensively monitors the activities of the Trust throughout all its aspects.

The Board have noted the financial challenges this year and put in place a recovery programme which has been
successful to end the year on a balanced budget. The finances are monitored by the Chair of the Board, the
Finance Team and the Audit, Finance & Premises Committee very closely every month and are satisfied with
the quality of the data provided by the Finance Team which is rigorously examined.

The employment of the Chief Learning Officer this year has successfully led to a raising of standards across the
MAT, which has been proven in the improved Ofsted results for Iceni Academy and Cherry Tree Academy
which are both no longer in a category with Cherry Tree Academy achieving ‘Requires Improvement’ and Iceni
Academy achieving a ‘Good’ outcome.

The Audit, Finance and Premises Committee is a sub-committee of the main Governing Body. Attendance at
meetings during the year was as follows:
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Governance Statement (continued)

Meetings Out of a
Trustee attended possible
Simon Carter 4 4
Susan Sings 4 4
Don Burton 4 4
Nick Redfern 4 4
Bruce Tuxford 4 4
Rowland Costin 2 4
Jane Bass 3 4
Claire Brazier 4 4

Its purpose is:
Audit Responsibilities

@ To determine whether the performance of the external audit is satisfactory and effective and meets the
requirements of the Trust

@ To recommend to the Members the retention or replacement of the external auditor and, if the Committee
recommends replacement, evaluate candidates for the appointment

@ To review all issues related to any change of external auditor and the planned steps for an orderly transition:

@ To review the terms of the external auditor’s engagement, and the appropriateness and reasonableness of the
proposed audit fees

@ To review the audit plan with the external auditor and management; determine whether the management has
provided full and open disclosure to the auditor’s enquiries

O To review problems experienced by the external auditor in performing the audit, including any restriction
imposed by management and all significant accounting issues on which there was a disagreement with
management, and review the post-audit or management letters containing the recommendation of the external
auditor and reviewing management’s response and subsequent follow-up to all identified weaknesses

O To meet with the external-auditors in private at least once a year to ensure that there are no unresolved issues
of concern and that full co-operation has been received

@ To draw to the attention of the Board of Trustees all financial matters of which the Committee has knowledge
and which may materially affect the current or future position of the Trust
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Governance Statement (continued)

© To develop, maintain and review the systems in place to identify and monitor major business risks; the
Committee Chair will report to the Board of Trustees as appropriate on the areas of major business risk

© To verify the establishment of policies and procedures for monitoring compliance with applicable laws and
with the Trust’s policies as to authorisation of expenditures, leases and contracts and otherwise, and ascertain
their adequacy and levels of compliance

@ To endeavour to identify to the Board of Trustees matters that expose Members/Trustees to claims for which
Members/Trustees could be held personally liable

© To ascertain whether any Conflict of Interest guidelines are strictly complied with, and ensure that
Members/Trustees and Senior Management of schools within the Trust have submitted an annual return to
confirm whether or not they have had any related party transactions with the Trust during the previous year

© To review the processes of governance to enable the Trust to implement best practice as set out in the
appropriate guidance. This will include a comprehensive review of governance once every three years, the
results of which are to be discussed at the following meeting of the Board of Trustees. The Committee Chair
may conduct the review himself or delegate responsibility to another Trustee. The review was carried out in
2016 and was deemed necessary due to the Trust centralisation programme that Joint Local Governing Bodies
(JLGB) would be formed for the 2 Colchester schools and 2 Witham schools during the last part of the academic
year, which was adopted for the Academic year 2017/18 going forward

© To review and recommend changes to its Terms of Reference, following completion of each annual audit.

Finance Responsibilities
O To consider the financial aspects of particular matters specifically referred to the Committee

© To consider the Trust’s indicative budget, notified annually by the Education Skills & Funding Agency and to
assess the implications for the Trust in consultation with CEO, in advance of the year involved, drawing any
matters of significance or concern to the attention of the Board of Trustees

© To consider and recommend acceptance or non-acceptance of the Trust’s budget at the start of each financial
year.

© To contribute to the formulation of the Trust’s Improvement Plan through the consideration of financial
priorities and proposals, in consultation with the CEO, with the stated and agreed aims and objectives of the
Trust.

© To receive and make recommendations on the broad budget headings and areas of expenditure to be adopted
each year, including the level and use of any contingency funds or balances, ensuring the compatibility of all
such proposals with the development priorities set out in the development plan.

@ To agree limits of delegation and virement.

@ To liaise with and receive reports from committees as appropriate and to make recommendations to those
committees about the financial aspects of matters being considered by them.

© To monitor and review expenditure on a regular basis and ensure compliance with the overall financial plan

for the Trust, and with the financial regulations of the DfE, drawing any matters of concern to the attention of
the board of Trustees.
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Governance Statement (continued)

© To monitor and review procedures for ensuring the effective implementation and operation of financial
procedures on a regular basis, including the implementation of bank account arrangements and, where
appropriate, to make recommendations for improvements where necessary.

© To prepare the Trustees’ report to form part of the statutory accounts of the Trust and for filing in accordance
with Companies’ Act requirements.

Premises Responsibilities

@ To provide support and guidance for the Heads of School on all matters relating to the maintenance and
development of the premises and grounds, including Health and Safety.

© To ensure that an annual inspection of the premises and grounds of each school takes place and a report is
received identifying any issues; also to ensure that a fire safety risk assessment is carried out on at least an
annual basis.

© To inform the Board of Trustees of the report and set out a proposed order of priorities for maintenance and
development for its approval

O To monitor the costs and arrangements for maintenance, repair and redecoration within the allocated budget.
@ To arrange professional surveys and emergency work as necessary.

@ The CEO is authorised to commit expenditure without the prior approval of the committee in any emergency
where delay would result in further damage or present a risk to the health and safety of pupils or staff.

@ To create a project committee where necessary to oversee any major developments.

O To establish and keep under review an Accessibility Plan and a Building Development Plan

© To prepare, implement, monitor and evaluate the following policies in line with the appropriate legislation,
reporting back to the Board of Trustees:

- Health, Safety and Welfare Policy

- Accessibility Policy and Action Plan

- Disability Equality Scheme and Action Plan

- Charges & Remissions Policy

- Lettings Policy (where relevant)

© To ensure that the Board’s responsibilities regarding litter, refuse and dog excrement are discharged
according to Section 89 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, so far as is practicable.

© To consider and make recommendations on risk management and insurance arrangements in regard to
vandalism and other matters relating to the premises
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Governance Statement (continued)

It should be noted that, due to the level of work taking place at the Audit, Finance and Premises Committee,
Personnel became its own separate sub-committee of the Board, chaired by Bruce Tuxford. Its purpose is:-

Personnel Responsibilities

@ To ensure there are effective policies and procedures in place for the safe recruitment of all staff and
volunteers and for the engagement of other adults in accordance with DfE guidance and legal requirements

© To monitor compliance with those polices and procedure.

O To ensure that recruitment of staff is undertaken in accordance with the processes laid out in the Connected
Learning Recruitment Policy

@ To monitor performance management with delegated powers being passed to the CEO/Executive
Headteacher(s) and Heads of School

@ To consider applications for early retirement, secondments or leave of absence -

O To authorise and monitor expenditure with the staffing budgets.

The Standards Committee is a sub-committee of the main Board of Trustees. Attendance at meetings during the
year was as follows:

Meetings Out of a
Trustee attended possible
Jane Bass 5 6
Simon Webb 6 6
Susan Sings 6 6
Don Burton 6 6
Bruce Tuxford 6 6

Standards Responsibilities
Its purpose is to:

© To strategically ensure that curriculum developments across and within Connected Learning academies are
developed with reference to national and international developments to ensure that our provision has the

potential to promote engagement and achievement for all our learners.

@ To develop common MAT policies and strategies to bring increasing consistency for the effective delivery of
pupil outcomes.

@ To receive and review Connected Learning polices and strategies for curriculum, teaching, learning,
assessment, marking and presentation annually, ensuring these are contingent with local policies as appropriate.
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Governance Statement (continued)

O To hold Connected Learning academies to account with regards to strategies and interventions for vulnerable,
SEN(D), middle ability and more able pupils in order to close gaps and improve attainment and achievements.

@ To ensure that target setting, informal and formal monitoring, and effective evaluation takes place and next
step outcomes are followed through.

@ To monitor the progress, attainment and achievement of Connected Learning MAT Pupils from Early Years
to KS2 across the five disciplines. (point 3)

@ To monitor and review policies and practices annually to ensure that academic and behaviour standards are
improved.

@ To receive comprehensive HT reports, aligned similarly, from each LGB to include the evaluation of learning,
teaching and the monitoring of the curriculum, pupil progress and pupil achievement, with copies of minutes of
LGB committees as required.

@ To recommend to the Board of Trustees for approval any Connected Learning policy that reinforces the scope
of the work undertaken by the Standards Committee in raising pupil outcomes.

Review of value for money

The accounting officer has responsibility for ensuring that the academy trust delivers good value in the use of
public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money refers to the educational and wider
societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received.

The Accounting Officer considers how the trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for money during
each academic year, and reports to the board of trustees where value for money can be improved, including the
use of benchmarking data where available. The Accounting Officer for the academy trust has delivered
improved value for money during the year by:

» Completing a programme of centralisation for Administration, Finance and HR services

* Monitoring the effectiveness of the new Business Centre for centralised services.

* The introduction of PS Financials replacing FMS which is cloud based and is available across the Trust.

+ Contracting for new Trust-wide broadband services to improve remote working to cloud-based finance and
operations.

* Monitoring the Business Managers’ new administrative positions, e.g. COO, HR Manager, Facilities Manager
to ensure their effectiveness.

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of academy trust policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Connected Leaming for the
year ended 31 August 2018 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements.
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Governance Statement (continued)

Capacity to handle risk

The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the academy trust is exposed together with the
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board of
Trustees is of the view that there is a formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the
academy trust's significant risks that has been in place for the year ending 31 August 2018 and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the Board of
Trustees.

The risk and control framework

The academy trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management
information and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and
accountability. In particular, it includes:

» comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports
which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees;

+ regular reviews by the Audit, Finance and Premises Committee of reports which indicate financial
performance against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes;

+ setting targets to measure financial and other performance;

*+ clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines;

+ delegation of authority and segregation of duties;

+ identification and management of risks.

The Board of Trustees has considered the need for a specific internal audit function and has decided:
*+ to appoint SBM Services Ltd as internal auditor for 17/18

» However, the Trustees have appointed Edmund Carr LLP as the external auditor for 17/18

The auditor's role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the academy
trust's financial systems. In particular the checks carried out in the current period included:

Governance and Financial Management

* Board of Trustees’ review and approval of the written Scheme of Delegatlon of Financial Powers supported by
a minute of a board meeting

* Specimen signatory list

* Board of Trustees’ review of the Terms of Reference for the Audit, Finance & Premises Committee and any
other committee with financial responsibility, supported by a minute of a board / governing body meeting

* Board of Trustees’ approval of the Trust’s budget, supported by a minute of a board meeting

» forward financial plan

» a list of current Members and Trustees /Governors relevant to the Trust

* Register of Interests

* Minutes confirming the opportunity to declare business interests for ALL Board / Governing Body meetings

« Gifts and Hospitality Policy and Registers of Gifts and Hospitality, both received and given

» Register of Operating Risks

« Evidence of formal appointment by the Board of Trustees of SBM Services Ltd to review the Trust’s internal
controls and financial procedures

* 2016/17 published audited accounts

» most recent statutory Auditor’s Management Letter

Page 22

-



L)
R

Connected Learning:

Governance Statement (continued)

Governance & Financial Reporting

« reconciliation of the 2017/18 budget approved by Trustees to the budget entered / ‘fixed’ on the Trust’s
financial accounting system

« authorisation to support ‘in year’ amendments to the budget approved by Trustees (virements)

« financial reporting to Trustees/Governors

+ cash flow forecast reconciliation of all balance sheet control accounts

» process for monitoring overdue debts and authorisation for the write off of any bad debts

*» 2016/17 published audited accounts

* most recent statutory Auditor’s Management Letter

Banking

« list of bank and building society accounts held by the Trust

* Board approval for any change made to the bank account structure

» current bank mandates containing authorised signatories and limits of authority

» cheque books and cheque book security

« cheque approval process

« process for creating and amending supplier bank details for payments made by BACS
* BACS approval process

* bank statements and bank paying in books

« bank statement reconciliations including unreconciled transactions

Income

« procedures and documentation for monitoring and controlling non-devolved funding income
« letting charge rate policy

« review of segregation of duties within the income collection process

Expenditure

« Scheme of Financial Delegation for approval of expenditure

« purchase / credit card procedures

« petty cash limits and approval process

« evidence of applying authorisation limits as specified in the Trust’s Financial Regulations
* quotations policy and documentation to evidence application of policy

« review of annual contracts

« tender process policy and documentation to evidence application of policy

+ payments to individuals - adherence to HMRC requirements i.e. completed HMRC ESI (Employment Status
Indicator) Tool

* payments to connected parties

Note: A sample of payments made will be undertaken.

Payroll

+ authorisation procedures and documentation for making changes to staff pay and conditions e.g. starters,
leavers and amendments

« evidence of segregation of duties in the above process

* most recent payroll reports

« personnel files

« details of any special payments made such as special staff severance payments, compensation payments &
ex-gratia payments and evidence of approval (EFSA if appropriate)

« evidence of independent review of monthly payroll reports

« most recent payroll reports

« mileage, travel and subsistence claims

« staff personnel/contract files

A sample check of employee contract pay to actual pay will be undertaken.
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Governance Statement (continued)

For 2017/18, on a termly basis, the internal auditor reports to the individual schools and through them to the
Board of Trustees, via the Audit, Finance and Premises Committee on the operation of the systems of control
and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees’ financial responsibilities.

There were no material control or other issues reported by the Responsible Officer to date.

Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, Jane Bass has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. During the year in question the review has been informed by:

» the work of the internal auditor;
» the work of the external auditor;
+ the financial management and governance self assessment process;

+ the work of the executive managers within the academy trust who have responSIbthty for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framework.

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of
internal control by the Audit Committee Finance and General Purposes Committee and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

01207

Approved by order of the members of the Governing Body on ...7.0...0........ and signed on its behalf by:

Rowland Costin
Trustee
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Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance

As Accounting Officer of Connected Learning I have considered my responsibility to notify the Board of
Trustees and the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and
non-compliance with terms and conditions of all funding received by the academy trust, under the funding
agreement in place between the academy trust and the Secretary of State for Education. As part of my
consideration I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook 2017.

I confirm that I and the Board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of funds by
the academy trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the academy
trust's funding agreement and the Academies Financial Handbook 2017.

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been
discovered to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the
Board of Trustees and ESFA.

MBesy

Jan¥ Bass
Accounting officer

Date:. I Z ‘2- , l( o
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Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are
responsible for preparing the Trustees' Report and the financial statements in accordance with the Annual
Accounts Direction published by the Education & Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law
the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources,
including its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are
required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;

» observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2015 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2017
to 2018;

» make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

» state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
charitable company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies
financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial
management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from the ESFA/DfE have been applied for
the purposes intended.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the Board of Trustes on i?_)[llllg and signed on its behalf by:

Rowland Costin
Trustee
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Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of
Connected Learning

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Connected Learning (the 'Academy") for the year ended 31 August
2018, which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities incorporating Income and Expenditure Account,
Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows, and Notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), including FRS 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’,
the Charities SORP 2015 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by the Education and
Skills Funding Agency.

In our opinion the financial statements:

« give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy's affairs as at 31 August 2018 and of its results for the
year then ended,

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

« have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities SORP
2015 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by the Education and Skills Funding
Agency.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Academy in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the
FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:

« the Trustees use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or

» the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the Academy’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for
a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.
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Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of
Connected Learning (continued)

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+ the information given in the Strategic Report and Trustees' Report (incorporating the strategic report and
directors' report) for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and

+ the Strategic Report and Trustees' Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Trustees' Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
+ certain disclosures of Trustees remuneration specified by law are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
Responsibilities of Trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities [set out on page 26], the Trustees are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Academy or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusnon
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

+ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Academy’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of Connected
Learning (continued)

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Academy’s internal control.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the Trustees.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustees use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Academy's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Academy to cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Academy to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Academy audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Academy trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Academy trust's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Academy and its members, as

a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Q/MWM/ Gt

Thomas York (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Edmund Carr LLP, Statutory Auditor

146 New London Road
Chelmsford

Essex

CM2 0AW
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Independent Reporting Accountant's Report on Regularity to Connected Learning and the
Education & Skills Funding Agency

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 31 July 2017 and further to the requirements of the
Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018, we
have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and income
received by Connected Learning during the period 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 have been applied to the
purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

This report is made solely to Connected Learning and the ESFA in accordance with the terms of our engagement
letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we may state to Connected Learning and the ESFA those matters we
are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than Connected Learning and the ESFA, for our work, for this report, or for
the conclusion we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Trusts's accounting officer and the reporting accountant
p p g p g

The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirements of the Trust's funding agreement with the Secretary
of State for Education dated and the Academies Financial Handbook extant from 1 September 2017, for ensuring
that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical guidance
and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements of the
Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018. We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in
carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during
the year from 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 have not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that
the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by
ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter.

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on
regularity.

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently
does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified
in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the
~academy trust's income and expenditure. :

-The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes:

» reviewing the Minutes of the meetings of the committees and other evidence made available to us, relevant to
our consideration of regularity .

» testing a sample of payments and receipts to documentation

 evaluating the internal control procedures and reporting lines, and testing as appropriate and making appropriate
enquiries of the Accounting Officer.
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Independent Reporting Accountant's Report on Regularity to Connected Learning and the
Education & Skills Funding Agency (continued)

Conclusion .

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the
expenditure disbursed and income received during the year from 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 has not been
applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which
govern them.

Blwsed. Gt/

Thomas York
For and on behalf of Edmund Carr LLP, Chartered Accountants

146 New London Road
Chelmsford

Essex
CM2 0AW
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Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 31 August 2018
(including Income and Expenditure Account)

Income and endowments from:
Voluntary income
Donations and capital grants

Transfer from local authority on
conversion

Charitable activities:

Funding for the Academy trust's
educational operations

Teaching school
Other trading activities
Investments

Total

Expenditure on:
Raising funds

Charitable activities:

Academy trust educational
operations

Teaching school

Total

Net income/(expenditure)
Transfers between funds

Other recognised gains and
losses

Opening defined benefit pension
scheme liability

Actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension schemes

Net movement in funds/(deficit)
Reconciliation of funds

Total funds/(deficit) brought
forward at 1 September 2017

Total funds/(deficit) carried
forward at 31 August 2018

Restricted Restricted
Unrestricted General Fixed Asset 2017/18
Funds Funds Funds Total
Note 3 £ £ £
2 - 32,455 225,825 . 258,280
26 394,170 - 1,791,112 2,185,282
3 - 6,295,720 - 6,295,720
25 - 122,462 - 122,462
20,341 283,916 - 304,257
5 501 - - 501
415,012 6,734,553 2,016,937 9,166,502
6 1,721 39,452 - 41,173
7 - 7,510,389 344,606 7,854,995
25 - 134,960 - 134,960
1,721 7,684,801 344,606 8,031,128
413,291 (950,248) 1,672,331 1,135,374
(252,574) 424,149 (171,575) -
- (745,000) - (745,000)
23 - 766,000 - 766,000
160,717 (505,099) 1,500,756 1,156,374
373,476 (2,539,527) 8,594,109 6,428,058
534,193 (3,044,626) 10,094,865 7,584,432
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Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 31 August 2017
(including Income and Expenditure Account)

Restricted Restricted
Unrestricted General Fixed Asset 2016/17
Funds Funds Funds Total
Note £ £ £ £
Income and endowments from:
Voluntary income
Donations and capital grants 2 23,151 - 499,075 522,226
Charitable activities:
Funding for the Academy
trust's educational operations 3 - 5,114,281 - 5,114,281
Teaching school - 139,800 - 139,800
Other trading activities 4 53,235 345,262 - 398,497
Investments 5 879 - - 879
Total 77,265 5,599,343 499,075 6,175,683
Expenditure on:
Raising funds 6 2,000 38,355 - 40,355
Charitable activities:
Academy trust educational .
operations 7 3,106 5,982,690 342,725 6,328,521
Teaching school 25 - 137,949 - 137,949
Total 5,106 6,158,994 342,725 6,506,825
Net income/(expenditure) 72,159 (559,651) . 156,350 (331,142)
Transfers between funds (183,341) 183,341 - -
Other recognised gains and
losses
Actuarial gains on defined
benefit pension schemes 23 - 713,000 - 713,000
Net movement in
(deficit)/funds (111,182) 336,690 156,350 381,858
Reconciliation of funds
Total funds/(deficit) brought
forward at 1 September 2016 484,658 (2,876,217) 8,437,759 6,046,200
Total funds/(deficit) carried
forward at 31 August 2017 373,476 (2,539,527) 8,594,109 6,428,058
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(Registration number: 08579939)
Balance Sheet as at 31 August 2018

Fixed assets
Tangible assets

Current assets

Stocks

Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Net assets excluding pension liability

Pension scheme liability

Net assets including pension liability

Funds of the Academy:

Restricted funds
Restricted general fund
Restricted fixed asset fund
Restricted pension fund

Unrestricted funds
Unrestricted general fund

Total funds

Note

12

13
14

15

23

2018 2017
£ £
10,052,830 8,530,936
2,104 2,104
231,482 286,387
795,490 672,449
1,029,076 960,940
(394,474) (414,818)
634,602 546,122
10,687,432 9,077,058
10,687,432 9,077,058
(3,103,000) (2,649,000)
7,584,432 6,428,058
58,374 109,473
10,094,865 8,594,109
(3,103,000) (2,649,000)
7,050,239 6,054,582
534,193 373,476
7,584,432 6,428,058

The financial statements on pages 32 to 60 were approved by the Trustees, and authorised for issue on

A2[)z.]13.... and signed on their behalf by:

Rowland Costin
Trustee
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 August 2018

2018 2017
Note £ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 19 1,763,215 (844,760)
Cash flows from investing activities 20 (1,640,174) 95,830
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year : 123,041 (748,930)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 672,449 1,421,379
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 21 795,490 672,449
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018

1 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where
noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the academy trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been
prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in
the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the
Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act
2006.

Going concern

The trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the company to
continue as a going concern. The trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year from
the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the academy trust has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material
uncertainties about the academy trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Income

All incoming resources are recognised when the academy trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is
probable and the amount can be measured reliably.

Grants

Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income
received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the balance
sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions there is not
unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as deferred
income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received,
the income is accrued.

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which it is
receivable and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and recognised as a liability.

Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an'unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts of
capital grants are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are recognised
when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they are expended.

Sponsorship income

Sponsorship income provided to the academy trust which amounts to a donation is recognised in the Statement
of Financial Activities in the period in which it is receivable (where there are no performance-related
conditions), where the receipt is probable and it can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Donations

Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) where the
receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.

Other income

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the extent the
academy trust has provided the goods or services.

Donated goods, facilities and services

Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected proceeds from sale less the expected
costs of sale. If it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is recognised in stock and ‘Income from other
trading activities’. Upon sale, the value of the stock is charged against ‘Income from other trading activities’ and
the proceeds are recognised as ‘Income from other trading activities’. Where it is impractical to fair value the
items due to the volume of low value items they are not recognised in the financial statements until they are
sold. This income is recognised within ‘Income from other trading activities’.

Where the donated good is a fixed asset it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure this
reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is recognised as income from
donations and a corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over
the useful economic life in accordance with the academy trust‘s accounting policies.

Transfer on conversion

Where assets and liabilities are received by the academy trust on conversion to an academy, the transferred
assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the balance sheet at the point when the risks and rewards of
ownership pass to the academy trust. An equal amount of income is recognised as transfer on conversion within
Donations and capital grant income to the net assets received.

Donated fixed assets

Where the donated good is a fixed asset it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure this
reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is recognised as income from
donations and a corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over
the useful economic life in accordance with the academy: trust‘s accounting policies.

Expenditure

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third
party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the
obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up
of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct
costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more
than one activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those
activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time
spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s use.

All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Expenditure on raising funds

This includes all expenditure incurred by the academy trust to raise funds for its charitable purposes and -

includes costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading.

Charitable activities

These are costs incurred on the academy trust’s educational operations, including support costs and costs
relating to the governance of the academy trust apportioned to charitable activities.

Tangible fixed assets
Assets costing £2,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of depreciation
and any provision for impairment.

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or
from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected useful
economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the continued use of the
asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities and
carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted
fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with
unrestricted funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land and assets under construction, at
rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a [straight-line/reducing balance] basis over its expected
useful lives, per the table below.

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until they
are brought into use and reclassified to freehold or leasehold land and buildings.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed assets
and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement
of Financial Activities.

Asset class Depreciation method and rate
Leasehold land and buildings 2% straight Line

Leasehold improvements 2-10% straight line

Fixtures and fittings 10% straigjht line

Computer equipment 4 33% straight line

Liabilities

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it is
probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can
be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the academy trust anticipates it will pay to
settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods or services it must provide.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the academy trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past
event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of
the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those amounts, discounted at
the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is
recognised within interest payable and similar charges.

Leased assets
Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Stock
Unsold uniforms and catering stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Taxation
The academy trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and
therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes.

Accordingly, the academy trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains
received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to
charitable purposes.

Pension benefits

Retirement benefits to employees of the academy trust are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (‘TPS’)
and the Local Government Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’). These are defined benefit schemes. The TPS is an
unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees’ working
lives with the academy trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level percentage of current and
future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government Actuary on the basis of
quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. TPS is an unfunded multi-employer scheme with
no underlying assets to assign between employers. Consequently, the TPS is treated as a defined contribution
scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which they relate.

The LGPS is a funded multi-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the academy trust
in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the
current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The
actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The amounts
charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes,
settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and comprises the interest cost
on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, calculated by multiplying the fair
value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the benefit obligations. The
difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is
recognised in other recognised gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other
recognised gains and losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Fund accounting
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the charitable
objects of the academy trust at the discretion of the trustees.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by
funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.

Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the
funder/donor and include grants from the Department for Education Group.

Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The academy trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in
determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions,
which are disclosed in note 23, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore a roll
forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2016 has
been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31/08/2018. Any differences between the figures
derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of
the pension liability. i
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

2 Donations and capital grants

Restricted
Restricted fixed asset 2017/18 2016/17
funds funds Total Total
£ £ £ £

Other voluntary income
Educational trips and visits 32,455 - 32,455 23,151
Capital grants - 225,825 225,825 499,075

32,455 225,825 258,280 522,226
3 Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations

Restricted 201718 2016/17
funds Total Total
£ £ £
DFE/ESFA revenue grants
General Annual Grant (GAG) 5,012,269 5,012,269 4,195,586
Other DfE/ESFA grants 499,648 499,648 127,525
Pupil premium 628,848 628,848 566,017
Start up grants 25,000 25,000 70,000
6,165,765 6,165,765 4,959,128

Other government
grants
Other government grants 129,955 129,955 155,153
Total grants 6,295,720 6,295,720 5,114,281
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

4 Other trading activities

Unrestricted Restricted 2017/18 2016/17
funds funds Total Total
£ £ £ £
Hire of facilities 7,629 - 7,629 30,508
Catering income - 153,543 153,543 118,304
Uniform 4,746 - 4,746 14,171
Nursery income - 75,980 75,980 72,856
Other income 7,966 21,826 29,792 83,358
Educational trips - 32,567 32,567 27,073
Consultancy - - - 52,227
20,341 283,916 304,257 398,497
5 Investment income
Unrestricted 2017/18 2016/17
funds Total Total
£ £ £
Short term deposits 501 501 879
6 Expenditure
Non Pay Expenditure
2017/18 2016/17
Staff costs Premises Other costs Total Total
£ E £ £ £
Expenditure on
raising funds
Direct costs - - 41,173 41,173 40,355
Academy's
educational
operations .
Direct costs 4,169,267 . - 121,173 4,290,440 3,383,562
Allocated support
costs 1,502,532 885,789 1,176,234 3,564,555 2,944,959
Teaching School - - 134,960 134,960 137,949
5,671,799 885,789 1,473,540 8,031,128 6,506,825
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

6 Expenditure (continued)

Net incomez’(expenditure) for the year includes:

Fees payable to auditor - audit
- other audit services

7 Charitable activities

Direct costs - educational operations
Support costs - educational operations

Analysis of support costs
Support staff costs
Depreciation

Technology costs
Premises costs

Other support costs
Governance costs

Total support costs

2017/18 2016/17
£ £
16,000 21,675
1,000 -
2017/18 2016/17
£ £
4,290,440 3,383,562
3,564,555 2,944,959
7,854,995 6,328,521
Educational 2017/18 2016/17
operations Total Total
£ £ £
1,502,532 1,502,532 1,259,508
344,606 344,606 342,725
40,045 40,045 37,782
541,183 541,183 338,116
1,037,304 1,037,304 870,903
98,885 98,885 95,925
3,564,555 3,564,555 2,944,959

Page 43



Connected Learning

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

8 Staff

Staff costs

Staff costs during the year were:

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Operating costs of defined benefit pension schemes

Supply staff costs
Staff restructuring costs

Staff restructuring costs comprise:
Other restructuring costs

Staff numbers

The average number of persons employed by the academy trust during the year was as follows:

Charitable Activities
Teachers

Administration and support
Management

Higher paid staff

The number of employees whose emoluments exceeded £60,000 was:

£60,001 - £70,000
£80,001 - £90,000
£90,001 - £100,000
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2017/18 2016/17
£ £

4,546,723 3,463,311
359,641 274,855
752,810 504,100
5,659,174 4,242,266
380 10,800
12,245 -
5,671,799 4,253,066

2018 2017

£ £
12,245 10,800
2017/18 2016/17
No No

67 48
188 142
26 12
281 202

2018 2017

No No
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

8 Staff (continued)

Key management personnel

The key management personnel of the academy trust comprise the trustees and the senior management team as
listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions and
employer national insurance contributions) received by key management personnel for their services to the
academy trust was £299,368 (2017: £375,628).

. 9 Central services

The academy trust has provided the following central services to its academies during the year:
* HR and legal support

» Finance support and internal controls evaluation

« Governance

+ Educational services

The academy trust charges for these services on the following basis:

* 2017: £15,000 per academy as well as 3% of ESFA Age Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU) income and other
individual costs recharged to the academies appropriately.

« 2018: the balance in central services at the end of the year has been split between the 5 schools based on pupils
as shown below. There were also central staffing costs that were apportioned during the year.

The actual amounts charged during the year were as follows:

2018

£
Cherry Tree Primary School 6,996
Iceni Academy 8,291
Powers Hall Academy 12,213
Silver End Academy 12,416
Templars Academy 14,559

54,475

10 Related party transactions - trustees’ remuneration and expenses

One or more trustees has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from employment with the
academy trust. The principal and other staff trustees only receive remuneration in respect of services they
provide undertaking the roles of principal and staff members under their contracts of employment, and not in
respect of their role as trustees. The value of trustees’ remuneration and other benefits was as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

10 Related party transactions - trustees' remuneration and expenses (continued)
Jane Bass (Executive Headteacher):

Remuneration: £95,000 - £100,000 (2017 - £110,000 - £115,000)
Employer’s pension contributions: £15,000 - £20,000 (2017 - £10,000 - £15,000)

Claire Brazier (Chief Operations Officer):

Remuneration: £55,000 - £60,000 (2017 - £65,000 - £70,000)
Employer’s pension contributions: £5,000 - £10,000 (2017 - £5,000 - £10,000)

Simon Webb (Chief Learning Officer):

Remuneration: £90,000 - £95,000 (2017 -)

Employer’s pension contributions: £Nil (2017 -)
During the year ended 31 August 2018, travel and subsistence expenses totalling £890 (2017 - £94) were
reimbursed or paid directly to 1 trustees (2017 - 1).

Other related party transactions involving the trusteés are set out in note 24.

11 Trustees' and officers' insurance

In accordance with normal commercial practice the Academy has purchased insurance to protect governors and
officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on Academy business. The
insurance provides cover up to £5,000,000 on any one claim and the cost for the year ended 31 August 2018 was
£Nil (2017 - £Nil). :

The cost of this insurance is included in the total insurance cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

12 Tangible fixed assets

Leasehold ,
land and Furniture and Plant and Assets under
buildings fixtures equipment construction Total
£ £ £ £ £
Cost
At 1 September 2017 7,465,622 1,297,673 300,065 240,076 9,303,436
Additions 53,483 2,849 19,056 - 75,388
Inherited assets 1,626,774 164,338 - - L791,112
Transfers 841,327 (601,251) - (240,076) -
At 31 August 2018 9,987,206 863,609 319,121 - 11,169,936
Depreciation
At 1 September 2017 363,861 203,627 205,012 - 772,500
Charge for the year 226,503 53,508 64,595 - 344,606
Transfers 60,125 (60,125) - - -
At 31 August 2018 650,489 197,010 269,607 - 1,117,106
Net book value
At 31 August 2018 9,336,717 666,599 49,514 - 10,052,830
At 31 August 2017 7,101,761 1,094,046 95,053 240,076 8,530,936
13 Stock
2018 2017
£ £
Catering 2,104 2,104
14 Debtors
2018 2017
£ £
Trade debtors 6,653 -
VAT recoverable 52,646 69,035
Other debtors - 30,139
Prepayments 172,183 187,213
231,482 286,387
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

15 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2018 2017
£ £
Trade creditors 127,393 771
Other taxation and social security 85,881 68,402
Other creditors - 102,165
Accruals and deferred income 181,200 243,480
394,474 414,818
2018 2017
£ £
Deferred income
Deferred income at 1 September 2017 (77,921) (91,495)
Resources deferred in the period (90,382) (77,921)
Amounts released from previous periods 77,921 91,495
Deferred income at 31 August 2018 ' (90,382) (77,921)

Deferred income includes grants received in advance for Universal Infant Free School meals and Rates relief.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

16 Funds

Restricted general funds
General Annual Grant (GAG)
Start up grants

Other DfE/ESFA grants
Pupil premium

Other government grants
Other generated funds
Teaching Alliance

Teaching Alliance - Grant
Funded

Restricted fixed asset funds
Assets held for depreciation
Devolved capital formula
Capital grants

Restricted pension funds
Pension reserve

Total restricted funds

Unrestricted funds
Unrestricted general funds

Total funds

Balance at 1 Gains, " Balance at
September Incoming Resources losses and 31 August
2017 resources expended transfers 2018
£ £ £ £ £

- 5,012,270 (5,012,270) - -

65,128 25,000 (487,750) 424,149 26,527

- 668,376 (668,376) - -

- 628,848 (628,848) - -

- 27,757 (27,757) - -

- 249,840 (249,840) - -

44345 46,000 (58,498) - 31,847

- 76,462 (76,462) - -

109,473 6,734,553 (7,209,801) 424,149 58,374
8,530,936 1,791,112 (344,606) 75,391 10,052,833
45,207 35,297 - (38,472) 42,032
17,966 190,528 - (208,494) -
8,594,109 2,016,937 (344,606) (171,575) 10,094,865
(2,649,000) - (475,000) 21,000 (3,103,000)
6,054,582 8,751,490 (8,029,407) 273,574 7,050,239
373,476 415,012 (1,721) (252,574) 534,193
6,428,058 9,166,502 (8,031,128) 21,000 7,584,432

Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

16 Funds (continued)

Balance at 1 Gains, Balance at
September Incoming Resources losses and 31 August
2016 resources expended transfers 2017
£ £ £ £ £
Restricted general funds
General Annual Grant (GAG) 33,702 4,195,586 (4,323,109) 93,821 -
Start up grants - 65,128 - - 65,128
Pupil premium 25,587 566,017 (591,604) - -
Other government grants - 155,153 (155,153) - -
Other generated funds - 345,262 (345,262) - -
CIF asbestos funding - - (89,520) 89,520 -
Teaching Alliance 42,494 18,800 (16,949) - 44,345
Teaching Alliance - Grant
Funded - 121,000 (121,000) - -
101,783 5,466,946 (5,642,597) 183,341 109,473
Restricted fixed asset funds
Assets held for depreciation 7,827,468 - (342,725) 1,046,193 8,530,936
Devolved capital formula 24,442 21,684 - (919) 45,207
Capital grants 585,849 477,391 - (1,045,274) 17,966
8,437,759 499,075 (342,725) - 8,594,109
Restricted pension funds
Pension reserve (2,978,000) - (384,000) 713,000 (2,649,000)
Total restricted funds 5,561,542 5,966,021 (6,369,322) 896,341 6,054,582
Unrestricted funds
Unrestricted general funds - 373,476 - - 373,476
Total funds 5,561,542 6,339,497 (6,369,322) 896,341 6,428,058
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Connected Learning

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

16 Funds (continued)

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows:

Unrestricted funds are applied to the general work of the academy to support activities inside and outside the
curriculum.

Restricted funds are applied specifically in accordance with the rules of each grant and support the education
provision delivered by the academy.

Restricted fixed asset funds are applied to the maintenance and improvement of all the academy's fixed assets.

The Teaching Alliance funds are applied to deal with incoming resources that are ear marked for the teaching
school.

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the academy was not subject to a limit on the amount
of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2018.

The transfer of £252,574 represents unrestricted funds used for restricted expenditure.

The transfer of £171,575 has been included to match the capital income with the expenditure in the restricted
fund.

Analysis of academies by fund balance

Fund balances at 31 August 2018 were allocated as follows:

2018 2017
£ £
Cherry Tree Primary School 13,837 42,089
Iceni Academy (76,805) (5,278)
Powers Hall Academy 339,859 304,998
Silver End Academy 157,359 -
Templars Academy 126,470 73,202
Central services - DFC 42,032 45,207
Teaching School 31,847 67,938
Total before fixed assets and pension reserve 634,599 528,156
Assets held for depreciation 10,052,833 8,548,902
Pension reserve (3,103,000) (2,649,000)
Total 7,584,432 6,428,058

Iceni Academy has a net deficit of £76,805 on these funds at 31 August 2018. It was identified that there had
been additional capital expenditure incurred in 2017 that meant that more capital expenditure costs were
incurred in 2018 that were unexpected.

The Trustees are aware of the deficit and are implementing changes to the academy as well as other academies
in the MAT. During the year 2018/19 the MAT has continued to centralise its operations and spending and it is
expected that the individual academies will further benefit from this centralisation in the coming years with
reduced costs. '
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

16 Funds (continued)

Analysis of academies by cost

Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows:

Teaching and
Educational Other Other Costs
Support Staff  Support Staff Educational (excluding Total
Costs Costs Supplies Depreciation) 2018
£ £ a3 £ £
Cherry Tree Primary
School 657,148 184,723 3,805 232,657 1,078,333
Iceni Academy 666,311 198,251 526 449,576 1,314,664
Powers Hall Academy 796,473 375,328 7,834 328,809 1,508,444
Silver End Academy 1,043,564 301,177 12,433 325,533 1,682,707
Templars Academy 1,005,772 436,656 2,103 375,061 1,819,592
Central services ) - 6,396 - 276,386 282,782
Academy Trust 4,169,268 1,502,531 26,701 1,988,022 7,686,522
Total
2017
£
Cherry Tree Primary School 979,071
Iceni Academy 1,176,963
Powers Hall Academy 1,873,132
Silver End Academy -
Templars Academy 1,883,694
Central services 193,741
Academy Trust
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

17 Analysis of net assets between funds

Fund balances at 31 August 2018 are represented by:

Restricted
Unrestricted Restricted fixed asset
funds general funds funds Total funds
£ £ £ £
Tangible fixed assets - - 10,052,830 10,052,830
Current assets 534,193 452,848 42,035 1,029,076
Current liabilities - (394,474) - (394,474)
Pension scheme liability . ‘ - (3,103,000) - (3,103,000)
Total net assets 534,193 (3,044,626) 10,094,865 7,584,432
Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows:
Restricted
Unrestricted Restricted fixed asset
funds general funds funds Total funds
£ £ £ £
Tangible fixed assets 33,609 - 8,497,327 8,530,936
Current assets 373,476 405,585 181,879 960,940
Current liabilities - (296,112) (118,706) (414,818)
Pension scheme liability - (2,649,000) - (2,649,000)
Total net assets 407,085 (2,539,527) 8,560,500 6,428,058
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

18 Commitments under operating leases

Operating leases

At 31 August 2018 the total of the academy trust's future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases was:

2018 2017
£ £
Amounts due within one year 11,309 10,495
Amounts due between one and five years 6,250 1,132
17,559 11,627

19 Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

2017/18 2016/17
£ £
Net income/(expenditure) 1,135,374 (331,142)
Depreciation 344,606 342,724
Capital grants from DfE and other capital income (225,825) (1,141,143)
Interest receivable (501) (879)
Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions payable 475,000 384,000
Decrease in stocks - 5,317
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 54,905 (111,982)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors (20,344) 8,345
Net cash provided by/(used in) Operating Activities 1,763,215 (844,760)
20 Cash flows from investing activities
2017/18 2016/17
£ £
Dividends, interest and rents from investments - (1) 879
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (1,866,500) (404,124)
Capital funding received from sponsors and others 225,825 - 499,075
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (1,640,174) 95,830
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

21 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
£ £
Cash at bank and in hand 795,490 672,449
Total cash and cash ecjuivalents 795,490 672,449

22 Members' liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of it
being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount as
may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to be a member.

23 Pension and similar obligations

The academy trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers’ Pension Scheme England
and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff, and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for
non-teaching staff, which is managed by . Both are multi-employer defined benefit schemes.

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2012 and of the LGPS 31 March
2016.

Contributions amounting to £22,779 were payable to the schemes at 31 August and are included within creditors.

Teachers' Pension Scheme

Introduction

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the Teachers'
Pensions Regulations (2010) and, from 1 April 2014, by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014.
Membership is automatic for full-time teachers in academies and, from 1 January 2007, automatic for teachers in
part-time employment following appointment or a change of contract, although they are able to opt out.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a ‘pay as you go’ basis - these contributions along with
those made by employers are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public
funds provided by Parliament.

Valuation of the Teachers' Pension Scheme

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published by
HM Treasury. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are
dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other factors. The latest
actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2012 and in accordance with the Public Service
Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014. The valuation report was published by the
Department for Education on 9 June 2014.

Page 55



‘21 6;;')"\1% S

Connected Learning

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

23 Pension and similar obligations (continued)
The key elements of the valuation and subsequent consultation are:

» employer contribution rates set at 16.48% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% employer administration
charge)

» total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for service to the
effective date of £191,500 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the notional
investments held at the valuation date) of £176,600 million giving a notional past service deficit of £14,900
million :

» an employer cost cap of 10.9% of pensionable pay will be applied to future valuations

* the assumed real rate of return is 3.0% in excess of prices and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings
growth is assumed to be 2.75%. The assumed nominal rate of return is 5.06%.

The TPS valuation for 2012 determined an employer rate of 16.4%, which was payable from September 2015. The
next valuation of the TPS is currently underway based on April 2016 data, whereupon the employer contribution
rate is expected to be reassessed and will be payable from 1 April 2019.

The employer’s pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £382,317 (2017: £306,643).
A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website.

Under the definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102), the TPS is an unfunded
multi-employer pension scheme. The academy trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a
defined contribution scheme. The academy trust has set out above the information available on the scheme.

Local government pension scheme

The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered funds. The total
contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2018 was £479,000 (2017 - £337,000), of which employer's
contributions totalled £374,000 (2017 - £257,000) and employees' contributions totalled £105,000 (2017 - £80,000).
The agreed contribution rates for future years are per cent for employers and per cent for employees.

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of
academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the Department for
Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013.

Principal actuarial assumptions

2018 2017
. % % .
Rate of increase in salaries 3.80 4.20
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation 2.30 2.70
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 2.70 ~ 260

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in the mortality rates. The
assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

23 Pension and similar obligations (continued)

Retiring today
Males retiring today
Females retiring today

Retiring in 20 years
Males retiring in 20 years
Females retiring in 20 years

Sensitivity analysis

Discount rate +0.1%

Discount rate -0.1%

Mortality assumption — 1 year increase
Mortality assumption — 1 year decrease
CPl rate +0.1%

CPlrate -0.1%

The academy trust's share of the assets in the scheme were:

Equities

Gilts

Other bonds

Property

Cash and other liquid assets
Other

Total market value of assets

The actual return on scheme assets was £129,000 (2017 - £114,000).
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2018 2017
22.30 22.20
24.80 24.70
24.50 24.30
27.10 27.00
2018 2017
£ £
5,383,000.00  3,857,000.00
5,672,000.00  4,073,000.00
5,703,000.00  4,091,000.00
5,353,000.00  3,839,000.00
5,655,000.00  3,982,000.00
5,401,000.00  3,944,000.00
2018 2017
£ £
1,543,000 857,000
129,000 82,000
142,000 51,000
216,000 127,000
83,000 40,000
310,000 157,000
2,423,000 1,314,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

23 Pension and similar obligations (continued)

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial activities

Current service cost
Net interest cost

Total amount recognized in the SOFA

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

At start of period

Conversion of academy trusts
Current service cost

Interest cost

Employee contributions
Actuarial (gain)/loss

Benefits paid

At 31 August

Changes in the fair value of academy's share of scheme assets:

At start of period

Conversion of academy trusts
Interest income

Actuarial gain/(loss)
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Benefits paid

At 31 August
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1
2017/18 2016/17
£ £
765,000 577,000
84,000 64,000
849,000 641,000
2017/18 2016/17
£ £
3,963,000 3,593,000
1,259,000 -
770,000 577,000
137,000 81,000
105,000 80,000
(700,000) (361,000)
(8,000) (7,000)
5,526,000 3,963,000
2017/18 2016/17
£ £
1,314,000 615,000
514,000 -
53,000 17,000
71,000 352,000
374,000 257,000
105,000 80,000
(8,000) (7,000)
2,423,000 1,314,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

24 Related party transactions

Owing to the nature of the academy trust and the composition of the board of governors being drawn from local
public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in which the trustees
have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in accordance with the
requirements of the AFH and with the academy trust’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures

relating to connected and related party transactions.

During the year costs of £2,500 (2017: £nil) were incurred for professional services from NCR Services, a
company Mr N C Redfern is connected to. No amounts were outstanding as at 31 August 2018 (2017: £nil).

In entering into the transactions above, the trust has complied with the requirements of the Academies Financial

Handbook 2017.

25 Teaching school trading account

Income

Other Income
Fundraising and other trading activities

Total Income
Expenditure

Direct costs
Direct staff costs
Other direct costs

Total direct costs

Other costs
Other support costs

Total Expenditure
(Deficit)/surplus from all sources
Teaching school balances at 1 September 2017

Teaching school balances at 31 August 2018

2017/18 2016/17
£ £
122,462 139,800
122,462 139,800

. 6,618
132,775 127,402
132,775 134,020

2,185 3,929
(134,960) (137,949)
(12,498) 1,851
44,345 42,494
31,847 44,345
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2018 (continued)

26 Conversion to an academy trust

On 1 September 2017 the Silver End Primary School converted to academy status under the Academies Act
2010 and all the operations and assets and liabilities were transferred to Connected Learning from the Essex
County Council Local Authority for £Nil consideration.

The transfer has been accounted for as a combination that is in substance a gift. The assets and liabilities
transferred were valued at their fair value and recognised in the balance sheet under the appropriate headings
with a corresponding net amount recognised as net incoming resources in the Statement of Financial Activities
as Donations - transfer from local authority on conversion.

The following table sets out the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities transferred and an analysis of
their recognition in the SOFA.

Restricted
Unrestricted fixed asset
fund fund Total
£ £ £
Tangible fixed assets
Leasehold land and buildings - 1,626,774 1,626,774
Other tangible fixed assets - 164,338 : 164,338
Budget surplus on LA funds 394,170 - 394,170
Net assets 394,170 1,791,112 2,185,282

The above net assets include £394,170 that were transferred as cash.
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